MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE COUNCIL HELD ON 21 JULY 2016 FROM 7.30 PM TO 10.15 PM

Members Present

Councillors: Bob Pitts (Mayor), Rob Stanton (Deputy Mayor), Mark Ashwell, Alistair Auty, Keith Baker, Parry Batth, Laura Blumenthal, Prue Bray, David Chopping, Gary Cowan, Andy Croy, Richard Dolinski, Lindsay Ferris, Michael Firmager, Mike Haines, Charlotte Haitham Taylor, Emma Hobbs, Tim Holton, Philip Houldsworth, Dianne King, Clive Jones, Norman Jorgensen, Pauline Jorgensen, Abdul Loyes, Charles Margetts, Julian McGhee-Sumner, Ken Miall, Philip Mirfin, Stuart Munro, Anthony Pollock, Malcolm Richards, Angus Ross, Beth Rowland, Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey, Chris Singleton, David Sleight, Chris Smith, Bill Soane, Alison Swaddle, Simon Weeks and Shahid Younis

24. MINUTE SILENCE

Prior to the commencement of the meeting, the Mayor paid tribute to the victims of the Nice attack and led the Council in a minute of silence.

25. APOLOGIES

Apologies for absence were submitted from Chris Bowring, UllaKarin Clark, Kate Haines, Pauline Helliar-Symons, John Jarvis, John Kaiser, Barrie Patman, Ian Pittock, Wayne Smith, Paul Swaddle and Oliver Whittle.

26. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

The Minutes of the Meeting held on 19 May 2016 and the Minutes of the Extraordinary Meeting held on 9 June 2016 were confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

27. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest received.

28. UPDATE ON THE THAMES VALLEY BERKSHIRE LOCAL ENTERPRISE PARTNERSHIP (LEP)

The Council received a presentation from Tim Smith, Chief Executive of the Thames Valley Berkshire Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP).

The presentation gave details of the development of the LEP and its strategic aim to sustain the area's status as the most productive sub-region in the UK. The LEP's activities were underpinned by a Strategic Economic Plan with four programmes covering infrastructure, enterprise and business growth, skills and employment and international links.

The presentation gave examples of the LEP's investment in the Borough in relation to road and rail improvements (including planning for the third Thames Crossing), digital technology, education and the Growing Places Fund.

Following the presentation, Members raised issues relating to the business orientation and leadership of the LEP, the potential funding implications following Brexit and the potential impact of a third runway at Heathrow airport.

RESOLVED: That Tim Smith be thanked for the presentation to Council on the work of the Thames Valley Berkshire Local Enterprise Partnership.

29. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

In accordance with the agreed procedure the Mayor invited members of the public to submit questions to the appropriate Members.

29.1 Guy Grandison asked the Executive Member for Highways and Transport the following question:

Could the Executive Member for Highways give us an update on the Third Thames Bridge Project, specifically the traffic modelling progress being carried out by WBC?

Answer

Work is proceeding on the completion of a Strategic Outline Business Case (SOBC). The business case development is based on the five case model approach which shows whether a scheme:

- is supported by a robust case for change that fits with wider public policy objectives
 the 'strategic case'
- demonstrates value for money the 'economic case'
- is financially affordable the 'financial case'
- is commercially viable the 'commercial case'
- is achievable the 'management case'.

The SOBC focuses on the Strategic Case and the Economic Case. Only an outline of the Financial Case, Commercial Case and Management Case is expected to support the SOBC.

The Economic Case requires the use of a traffic model. For this we are using the updated Wokingham Strategic Transport Model. The work to update the model started in September 2015 and has been proceeding as planned and is on-going. A significant number of traffic surveys were undertaken in September 2015 in and around Wokingham, Reading and Oxfordshire. The current programme shows the transport model is expected to be ready towards the end of the summer. Work is ongoing to produce the Strategic Case. This is programmed to be completed in July 2016.

Environment work to support the business case is also progressing in parallel following a procurement process earlier this year. Based on the current programme we are anticipating completion of the SOBC late Autumn/Winter 2016.

Supplementary Question

In relation to the Strategic Plan you just mentioned, will it be coming back to this chamber to keep the public informed?

Answer

Yes, something of that significance, certainly we will be keeping the public informed of events as and when they are relevant and have some substance.

29.2 Nicola Greenwood asked the Executive Member for Environment the following question:

Thank you for accepting Wokingham Bridleway Group's petition for an increase in the % of equestrian access in the Borough, the subsequent meeting and letter following the meeting. Please could I ask if the petition issues comes back to Council and if not please could you explain how the matter now lies?

Answer

There is no formal requirement for the petition to report back to Council about the outcome. However, for clarity I can confirm that we had a successful meeting with yourself as lead petitioner, myself as Executive Member for Environment and two senior officers of the Council and you agreed to share the outcome of our conversations and our subsequent letter with your networks.

I think you will agree that the meeting was successful and we acknowledged your concerns regarding the new development taking place in the Borough and your wish to ensure that there is continuing access for equestrians to use the public rights of way network. I hope that you could see from the meeting that we do appreciate the popularity of horse riding in our Borough.

During the meeting we noted that whilst it is true that 10% of the Borough's rights of way are bridleways, it is worth noting that a further 24% are restricted byways and byways which can be used by equestrians. The total network accessible to equestrians is actually currently around 34%, and could reach upwards of 40% over the next ten years.

We have high aspirations around improved access and as you know, we are working hard to deliver an enhanced network for equestrian users. (For example we have recently secured a new circular bridleway as part of the mineral restoration plans that are being created at Fleet Hill and Manor Farms in Finchampstead, which will link over the River Blackwater into a bridleway network within Hampshire.)

In addition the Greenways project aspires to create up to 42km of multi-use access for users including horse riders.

I appreciate another issue in linking different rights of way where riders have to use ever busier public roads. We will look to try to make these transition routes safer but this will not always, unfortunately, be possible.

29.3 Bill Soane (on behalf of Claire Symes) asked the Executive Member for Highways and Transport the following question:

I am writing with regard to a safe walking and cycling route to the new Bohunt School, in Wokingham, from The Lilacs in Barkham. My son is due to start at the school this September. This was our first choice school, and as we live under 3 miles away, I believe that free transportation will not be provided by WBC. We were hoping that our son would be able to cycle to school, providing a healthy and independent means of travel.

However, at present, this is not a safe option from The Lilacs. The speed limit on the Bearwood Road only drops to 30 mph at the end of the road, near the roundabout. The WBC factsheet on road speeds states that a child hit by a vehicle driving at 40mph is likely to die! How can I send my child safely off to school on his bike or by foot, when he is at serious risk of death?

There is no safe crossing at the bottom of Bearwood Road, which is a very busy road during rush hour/school commuting times; and there is no safe crossing on the Barkham Road/Barkham end of Langley Common Road. Furthermore, the pavement around the Barkham Manor is dangerously narrow, with a high wall to one side. Traffic regularly speeds around this corner, with little regard for pedestrians.

I urge you to press for a reduced speed limit of 30 mph on the Bearwood Road and to

provide a safe crossing on the Bearwood Road and Barkham Road/Langley Common Road, as well as considering what needs to be done to improve the safety of pedestrians and cyclists travelling past the Barkham Manor.

We were encouraged to consider Bohunt as an option, and were assured that whilst the Arborfield development was in progress, the council would ensure that there were safe routes to Bohunt from Barkham, or alternatively, free transport until this was established.

Answer

As part of the new school the Council is committed to providing walking routes to the school. As with other walked routes to the new school the route from Barkham has been inspected by officers. The inspection identified various works such as clearing vegetation and improving visibility to assist highway users. There are some areas where vegetation has grown over and narrowed the footways due to lack of use over the years. The Council will be looking to clear this vegetation and growth in some sections to restore the route to its original full width.

Regarding your comment associated with Bearwood Road. The inspection identified this issue and we are looking to make improvements to pedestrian movements at this junction to assist with crossing the road. With regards to the crossing of Langley Common Road, the available walking route utilises the subway adjacent to Rickman Close and I would urge you to ensure your son to be aware of this.

Clearly the Council are working to ensure the identified works are completed prior to the opening of the school. We are confident that upon completion of the works walking routes will be provided to the school. There may be some sections where footways are slightly narrower than current design standards that are applied to new infrastructure, but this is no different to the highway network serving existing schools across the Borough and elsewhere.

Walking routes to school specifically considers pedestrians and therefore do not cater for cycle use off carriageway if there is no dedicated cycleway. The Council does not recommend cycling on the footways as cycling causes anxiety and risks to pedestrians, particularly for elderly and disabled people. Should your child wish to cycle then you should ensure the chosen route is suitable and your child is appropriately trained to ride on the highway network. The Council will be conducting "Bikeability Children Cycle Training" in August. Please refer to the Council's website for details of cycle training at: http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-travel/road-safety/cycle-training/

Regarding your concern over the current speed limit of 40mph. A speed limit review is also being conducted along this route and others. The review will recommend whether a reduction to the current speed limit should be considered. Should a reduction in speed limit be progressed by the Council, this would require both the support of Thames Valley Police who will be responsible for its enforcement, and the formal change to the Traffic Regulation Order, including public notice where objections may be received, prior to the reduced speed limit being introduced along with new signage on the route.

Please be assured that the safety of all road users and particularly the children travelling to the new school is of paramount concern to the Council's Transport Team who are responsible for road safety across the Borough. I will ask Officers to keep you informed as to progress in these matters.

30. PETITIONS

There were no petitions received.

31. MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

The Mayor informed Members that, in relation to Mayoral engagements, the month of June had been one of the busiest for the past ten years. The Mayor stated that he had intended to comment on the recent rise in hate crime and challenges to positive race relations but, as there was a Motion on this subject before Council, he had decided not to make a statement. The Mayor did comment on a recent visit to the Mosque in Earley and the prevailing sentiment that it was better to build bridges between communities rather than walls. He felt that this was a thought for everyone to consider.

On a personal note, the Mayor stated that he would be getting married shortly and that he would be the first Borough Mayor to wed during a term of office. Members from across the chamber congratulated the Mayor on his announcement.

32. LOCALISM ACT PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2016/17

The Council considered a report from the Director of Finance and Resources, set out on Agenda pages 63 to 71, which included a Pay Policy Statement for 2016/17. The report reminded Members that the Localism Act 2011 required all local authorities to approve and publish a Pay Policy Statement each year.

The proposed Pay Policy Statement included details of senior management pay and benefit arrangements and the ratio of senior management salaries to other benchmarked salaries across the organisation. The Pay Policy Statement had been recommended for approval by the Personnel Board at its meeting on 5 July 2016.

It was moved by Keith Baker and seconded by Pauline Jorgensen that the recommendation set out in the report be approved.

RESOLVED: That the Pay Policy Statement for 2016/17 be approved, for publication on the Council's website, in accordance with the Localism Act 2011.

33. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 2016-2021

The Council considered a report from the Director of Environment, Agenda pages 73 to 82, which set out an Economic Development Strategy for the Borough for the period 2016 to 2021.

The proposed strategy, which had been agreed by the Executive at its meeting on 30 June 2016, set out how the Council aimed to facilitate economic growth locally within the context of the Government's wider agenda for growth and the Thames Valley Berkshire Local Enterprise Partnership Strategic Economic Plan. The Strategy's key objectives were summarised as:

- Creating a place where businesses thrive by offering good quality housing and infrastructure:
- Facilitating business growth through business support and inward investment;
- Ensuring that people have the skills that businesses need and are able to support themselves into employment;
- Encouraging innovation and technology to build a competitive business environment.

An Action Plan was being developed with SMART targets setting out delivery against priorities. The Action Plan would be updated at least annually.

It was moved by Anthony Pollock and seconded by Stuart Munro that the recommendations set out in the report be approved.

RESOLVED That:

- 1) the proposed Economic Development Strategy for 2016/21 be approved;
- the Council notes that any investment needed to deliver the strategy (over and above investment delivered through existing budgets) be reported to the Executive for approval.

34. STATEMENTS BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL, EXECUTIVE MEMBERS AND DEPUTY EXECUTIVE MEMBERS

Keith Baker, Leader of the Council, made the following statement:

At the Annual Council I made several changes to the Executive. In those changes I appointed two new Executive Members and five new Deputy Executive Members. It is not easy to step into Executive roles although both had previously been Deputies so they were not totally thrown in the deep end. All of them have really got stuck into their areas and I do hope that both Councillors and residents have seen a noticeable improvement. Speaking personally, I am extremely pleased with their performance and I think it bodes extremely well for the future.

I will try not to steal anyone's thunder as you listen to their reports during this agenda item. However, I would like to draw your attention to the collaborative work being undertaken with neighbouring councils for the update to the existing local plan, formerly known as the Core Strategy. In the past, because of different timings the ability to co-operate more fully was always hampered as authorities were all at different stages. This time around Bracknell, West Berkshire, Reading and ourselves are working closely together. This means we can develop all of our plans such that we get a higher level of mutual benefit from each other. We all know that boundaries between Councils are artificial and therefore cross boundary working must inevitably be better. After all, a road or a housing estate doesn't stop at the borders of the Borough. We have a long way to go on the development of our update but it is highly likely we will continue the concept of concentrating on Strategic Development Locations or SDL's but nothing is set in stone.

My participation continues in the Berkshire Leaders' Group and the Local Enterprise Partnership or LEP, where I am the representative of all the Berkshire Leaders. At these meetings significant strategic issues are discussed with the aim of close co-operation amongst us all. We are extremely lucky to have a LEP that has a strong reputation at all levels, up to national government, which often puts us in a good position where funding is involved.

From a personal development perspective, I am extremely pleased that three of our councillors have applied to become members of a variety of working groups or committees of the Local Government Association or LGA. I cannot remember ever having any of our councillors wishing to work at this level, let alone three. If they are successful it will give us a direct insight of the LGA thinking on some key areas. I wish them well in the selection process.

As this is the last Full Council before the August break can I wish everyone a happy holiday. Please recharge your batteries as we have a lot of important matters to progress on your return.

Finally, I wish to send this Council's congratulations to one of our local MPs, Theresa May, who has gone from MP to Prime Minister. I had the great privilege to be her Agent during the General Election of 2010, followed by Cllr Hobbs who was her agent in 2015. Both of us, and a few others in this chamber, know her quite well and agree she is a formidable lady. She is a superb fit for this great office of state and will do a fantastic job for all of the country.

Charlotte Haitham Taylor, Executive Member for Children's Services, made the following statement:

This has been another busy month in Children's Services and I have been delighted to be invited to attend the formal opening of Grazeley Parochial Church of England Primary School's new building works this week. This is a fabulous example of how this Borough has invested in a local community and enabled this school to double in size from just 15 pupils per year group to 30 now, which means more children go to school locally at this fantastic school.

In the last couple of terms we should be cognisant of the hard work and dedication of many of our teachers and governors across the Borough. In the inspection of 12 of our schools and in the context of a new and tougher Ofsted framework, 3 have raised a grade to be judged as "Good" and 5 have maintained their "Good" judgements. This is testament to their hard work.

The Council has also been subject to two Ofsted inspections in the last two weeks, one for Adult Education Services and the second for the Youth Offending Service. Everyone has worked hard to showcase their approaches and I will update the Council on the outcomes in due course.

This month I was also pleased to don my hard hat and high-vis jacket and climb up to the very top of the roof of the new secondary school in the south, Bohunt. Future pupils, the new head teacher, parents, officers, project managers, builders and the architects were all there to celebrate the topping out ceremony, a momentous occasion in the history of the project. Everyone should be immensely proud of the work undertaken and it will be a credit to the hard work and commitment of everyone involved.

Mark Ashwell, Executive Member for Planning and Regeneration, made the following statement:

Firstly I'd like to officially introduce (although you know him well) my partner in Planning, Regeneration and Communities, Deputy Executive Member Councillor Chris Bowring. Councillor Bowring is absent this evening as he is treading the boards at Wokingham Theatre.

Planning, Regeneration and Communities is a very exciting portfolio and we are already really enjoying the challenge of working on your behalf. We are the A Team, hoping never to become the Plan B Team.

Starting with Regeneration - I can report that last month the Regeneration Team attended the National Planning Awards in London. Here we won the Top Award for Making

Development Viable. The Judges said: "After several failed attempts by developers to regenerate Wokingham town centre, the council took matters into its own hands by buying one site and using two others that it already owned to deliver a masterplan." Judges said the project was "a positive example of a local authority engaging in land acquisition and development to turn around a failing town centre".

This is testament to this Council 'one and all' and our brave stance in taking the control and the responsibility for the regeneration of our principal town. With this in mind I would personally like to thank all my colleagues especially Councillor David Lee and Councillor Philip Mirfin for their foresight, efforts to date and surviving to tell the tale! I would also like to acknowledge our opposition (it's great and healthy to have opposition these days) in reaching this stage of our regeneration and our joint mission to save Elms Field. I would however plead with you to keep it positive please – this by avoiding the Tripe! As we get on and deliver the regeneration of our principal Town, All Together Now:

- We have started in June with the Multi Storey Car Park at Carnival Pool and this will be finished by Spring next year
- We are starting Peach Place in January next year and this will be finished by the end of 2018
- We are starting Elms Field after the May Fair next year and this will be finished by late 2019

...and our Market Place Improvement joint project with Wokingham Town Council will commence Spring next year and be finished in the late summer. So, hold on to your hats as it's going to be a remarkable journey, and believe you me, regeneration is here to stay across the whole Borough. You can get all this information from our website: www.regenerationcompany.co.uk or just Google Wokingham Regeneration. This is the place to go for the most up-to-date information at any time.

Our major project in Planning is the Local Plan Update, as Councillor Baker alluded to earlier. This is being led by Councillor Bowring who has vast experience in these matters. Subject to Executive approval next week we will be consulting on all the issues and options. This will commence next month. Please look out for this consultation and spread the word. Councillors will be kept totally informed as the Local Plan Update emerges. I would plead with you to contribute as it is vital to how our Borough will evolve over the next 20 years.

Anthony Pollock, Executive Member for Economic Development and Finance, made the following statement:

Council Tax collection, a subject close to my heart. The Council has come first in the Council Tax collection table for the third year in a row. We collected 99.5% of Council Tax in the relevant year. Our neighbouring authority, Reading Borough Council, a Labour run authority came 228th out of 363 councils. They achieved a Council Tax collection rate of 96.8%.

The extra 2.7% that this Council collected during the year may not seem to be a large amount. However, it equates to an extra £2.16m, a significant amount of money in our current financial situation. It enables the Council to fund a further £2.16m worth of services for our residents. As for the remaining 0.5% who have not yet paid, I will guarantee to the Council that we will continue to pursue these outstanding Council Tax debts for as long as we need to. We have a habit of doing it for at least seven years, so nobody gets away with it if we can help it. I had to sign off a case a while back where someone had gone to Australia to avoid paying Council Tax. We are on our game and will collect the rest.

Angus Ross, Executive Member for Environment, made the following statement:

Firstly, last weekend nearly 400 youngsters got free tennis coaching in a scheme run with the Lawn Tennis Association (LTA). Our thanks go to all those in our Sports Development Team, the LTA and our leisure contractor 1Life for putting this on and for organising such good weather. On the Saturday we were hosts to the Davis Cup, not the tennis which was in Serbia where we won and are now in the Semi Finals against Argentina, but the cup itself. Those who saw it were amazed by the size of the base showing winners since 1900. Thank you Mr Mayor for your time last Saturday and for being quizzed with me live by the BBC Radio Berkshire reporter! May your wedding cake be as large as the Davis Cup trophy!

Second, this weekend sees the first Marvellous Festival at Dinton, previously held at Wellington Country Park, the other side of Riseley. We look forward to record numbers coming to enjoy the music, the site and the event. Whilst we appreciate it may cause some disturbance to residents living close by, the income from this event will assist in the management of our Country Parks - we are so lucky to have these large open spaces.

Third, we have held one weekend of consultation on possible options for the future of Bulmershe Leisure Centre - rebuild or refurbish. We have planned a further open day in Woodley Town Centre precinct on 6th August as well as meetings with user groups and the local schools. The findings will be fed into the recommendation which will come forward in the autumn. Members, please look out for the consultation and contribute on the Council website.

Fourth, a ground breaking new layout of a MUGA, or Multi Use Games Area, is now open in Finchampstead behind the FBC Centre. This is an exciting new concept of an open area with many applications for youth of all ages. An official opening will be on 25th August at 1pm but meanwhile it is now in full use for the school holidays. The extreme heat earlier this week could not have come at a worse time for the setting of the asphalt but we are keeping a close watch and a little less hot weather will enable the material to set firm. Can I put on record my thanks to the officer team and the many local groups, Councillors, parish council, FBC, PCSO and local youth groups who helped us in the formative times for this project, funded by \$106 and from Finchampstead Parish Council. I am delighted that the Deputy Mayor will be coming along to open it.

Finally, together with our re3 waste disposal partners in Reading and Bracknell Forest, we have introduced control of access to our Tips, or Recycling Centres at Smallmead and Longshot Lane to protect our investment. This was because of West Berkshire's decision to withdraw funding for the use made by their residents of Smallmead. 15 percent of users of that site were from West Berkshire. The Permit Scheme has been successfully introduced and the staff of re3 and our contractor FCC have done a sterling job to set this up and to manage the first few days when many came unaware, despite extensive announcements, that proof of residency in one of the three Boroughs was required.

Pauline Jorgensen, Executive Member for Resident Services, made the following statement:

Following Executive approval for the Library Strategy we move towards the implementation phase for extended hours and self-service facilities. We plan to tender for self-service infrastructure and kiosks in September and aim to implement the new service together with enhanced opening hours in the spring. This will mean that Woodley Library will become the first of our libraries to open every day. It will also extend the opening hours

in Wokingham, Lower Earley and Finchampstead. This is a good result for all our library users. It is good to see libraries continuing to increase in popularity.

We continue to work with interested parties in Twyford, including the Parish Council and Polehampton Charity, to progress the community hub project. Discussions continue between the Architect and planning officers.

Libraries also continue to look for opportunities to extend our service by increasing footfall, developing sponsorship opportunities and generating revenue. Finally, the Roald Dahl themed Big Friendly Read, Summer Reading Scheme starts this week - there are lots of events on this theme happening in all our libraries for children in the Borough.

To turn to IT, the service is busy working on changes to our infrastructure to support the 21st Century Council project. Nevertheless they continue to work on committed savings in the IT cost base which amount to £500k this year. I am pleased to report that we are on schedule to deliver on our commitment.

The Customer Service Team continue to run "meet your Council" sessions where Council Officers responsible for our customer service get to talk to and hear from our customers direct across the Borough. The last was at ASDA Lower Earley. I was pleased to be able to help man the stall and would like to personally thank the staff for the work they voluntarily put in to the event. The overwhelming theme was grass cutting and it was great, in particular, that we had the Head of the Cleaner and Greener service out listening to residents and answering questions first hand.

Finally, I would like to mention that we had a review of air quality management and we identified some air quality management areas. Letters to impacted residents will be going out shortly.

Malcolm Richards, Executive Member for Highways and Transport, made the following statement:

This report outlines the main events to note for the Highways and Transport Portfolio for the current period.

Firstly, Civil Parking Enforcement (CPE). WBC is currently applying to the Government for permission to handle its own parking enforcement. On-street parking enforcement is normally performed by the police service, but resources and government-preferred policy is that local authorities should now do this themselves. The submission of the application is a time-consuming and detailed process and we have identified September 2016 as the time when we will seek approval from the Council Executive to advance to the next stage. If our application is eventually approved by the government (DfT) there will be much local preparation to do, and we would then hope to commence live CPE running in 2017.

Secondly, park and ride locations. We currently have two park and ride locations in operation around the Borough, one at Mereoak (just south of the M4 near Junction 11) and the other at Winnersh Triangle rail station. Both of them are popular and well used. We have this month just identified a third location, by the Thames Valley Business Park (TVP), at the top end of the A329M. This park and ride facility is jointly funded by a grant from the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and by business donations. This latest route will carry passengers between TVP and central Reading by bus, and could therefore reduce the need for up to 30-40 cars, each carrying one passenger. This is a good example of transport sustainability and service.

Thirdly, Loddon Viaduct. This concrete viaduct forms part of the A329M road structure and, as with all road structures, requires regular maintenance and repair. After about 40 years of use it was due for a major overhaul and that activity is now in progress. Having started the preparation last week, it will continue on to full upgrade that is due to complete in early September. Considerable forward planning and public communications were produced that helped to keep residents and motorists fully informed. The end result will ensure a longer life for the structure, enhanced safety and reduced costs for maintenance – so a good and safe deal for all.

Finally, we are continuing the major work of managing the development of new roads as well as the maintenance and improvement of existing roads. This work never stops. Part of my new portfolio will include the enhancement of clear and timely communication advising of forthcoming action and changes. A well informed public is better prepared to cope with change.

35. STATEMENTS FROM COUNCIL OWNED COMPANIES Anthony Pollock, Non-Executive Director, Optalis:

Optalis continues to prosper. We celebrated our 5th birthday on 6th June and I am looking forward shortly to signing our next five year contract with Wokingham Borough Council. I would particularly like to pay tribute to our current Managing Director, Mette le Jacobsen, who has been with the company since it started, first as Operations Director and, in the last year, as managing Director.

As an accountant, I prefer numbers and am a little suspicious of the feely stuff around the public sector and business. But I have been really impressed with the way that Mette has picked up the company's Vision Statement and turned it into reality for the staff. We have recently appointed Andrew Crammond as our new Director of Quality and Delivery, which is Operations to the layman, and Alan Rawlings as Finance Director, which is self-explanatory. I am very pleased with these appointments and am confident that they will contribute significantly to the development of the business in the future.

We recently set up a Star Awards system whereby staff can nominate other members of staff for an award and we recently held an awards event at Easthampstead Park. Simon Weeks stood in for me and presented the awards. It was a very successful day and the staff really appreciated it.

Gary Cowan, Non-Executive Director, Loddon Homes:

I am very pleased to confirm that the submission made to the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) for Loddon Homes Ltd (LHL) to become the first Council owned for profit registered housing provider has proved successful. This is a notable achievement and full credit has to go to the Board of Wokingham Housing Ltd (WHL) for having the initiative to start this process and maintain the tenacity to proceed despite the changing market conditions.

The submission transferred to the Board of Loddon Homes as that company structure was put in place and the new Board, which I chair, has seen the complicated application through to completion. Congratulations to the staff of LHL and WHL and thanks to our consultant, Dave Williams, our specialist solicitors and all those unsung helpers amongst the staff of Wokingham Borough Council who assisted in developing a series of interlocking and complicated internal procedures to meet the stringent demands of the HCA.

It is worth reiterating the length of time this has taken to achieve, nearly 18 months in total, encompassing a change in the application criteria, reorganisation in Whitehall and, finally, the new Housing Act. The extent of the achievement cannot be underestimated. Even though uncertainties continue as we await the Housing and Planning Act outcome, the Loddon Board is focussing on developing good governance and policies and working closely with WHL on development sites that will sit within Loddon Homes.

Finally, a copy of the certificate has been forwarded to Democratic Services which, I hope, can be included in the next set of minutes.

David Chopping, Non-Executive Director, Wokingham Housing Ltd:

To bring everyone up to date on the progress of WHL, we are the development arm of the Housing companies as opposed to the holding and management company, Loddon Homes Ltd.

Phoenix Avenue continues to progress. Whilst we were disappointed to be advised that the programme is technically three to four weeks behind schedule, it should be explained that this is due to a change in an important structural component, the sort of thing that can happen with the type of contract that we have set. However, this should save time later in the construction period. They are using new span floor beams, terribly exciting to those of us who understand these things. They are larger lumps of concrete as opposed to lots of smaller lumps. Any time loss will be caught up by the end of September which means that there should be no delay in delivery of the first phase of the development, due in March 2017. We have asked for a chart to verify everything, but I understand that they have caught up half a week already and we have to go along with what they are saying.

Fosters Extra Care Scheme is progressing well, with on-site activity being very obvious to local residents and passing traffic. The claim for 50% of the HCA grant, £1.49m, has been paid to the Council. This is to support the initial start on site costs. The grant received is currently in the Council's bank account, but now that Loddon Homes has been accredited as a "for profit" provider with the HCA, it is intended to transfer the grant and relevant grant conditions to Loddon Homes, providing that everyone says yes and somebody writes a cheque. The work to do this is currently ongoing.

Signage to promote WHL and the Council's work in providing homes for local people has been fixed to both the Phoenix Avenue and Fosters site hoardings and is utilising the branding produced for WHL earlier in the year. This is providing the Council and WHL with a good local presence and promoting what the Council is now achieving with its housing companies. Those who regularly inspect our websites will have the opportunity to see the time lapse photography as and when it is up and running. The system is up and running but we are waiting until there is something more exciting to show you, a video which will take you through the actual construction.

Previously, we have reported the frustrations of the right Council approvals not necessarily being in place to progress the letting of contracts on our small sites in Barratt, Anson and Grovelands. However, despite the holdup, the issue has proved very useful in focussing minds on clarifying the processes to ensure that there is a smooth process to follow from site identification to letting a contract, combined with clarity around the WBC commissioning process and lines of responsibility for approvals. WHL is now confident that our current pipelines will be able to progress without similar issues occurring. We expect that the contract for Anson Walk and Grovelands will be let in the next few weeks and that,

thereafter, you will see a steady flow of small sites being approved and contracts let during the autumn and New Year to deliver a steady supply of additional affordable homes for borough residents.

36. MEMBER QUESTION TIME

In accordance with the agreed procedure the Mayor invited Members to submit questions to the appropriate Executive Member or Committee Chairman, etc.

36.1 Charles Margetts asked the Deputy Executive Member for Highways and Transport the following question:

I travel regularly between Wokingham and Waterloo and the train service seems to be inordinately slow. Can the Deputy Executive Member please tell me what representations Wokingham Borough Council has made to seek shorter journey times?

Answer

Our Public Transport Plan adopted in January 2012 has an aspirational journey time of no more than 59 minutes representing a 15% reduction on the current 68 minute timing. We have consistently lobbied for this improvement and played a full part in the various stakeholder meetings held by Network Rail to develop the Wessex Route Study. It is Network Rail that is responsible for strategic planning to estimate demand and then prepare plans to cope with that demand and does this through the Long Term Planning Process that looks forward to 2043. The Wessex Route Study was published as a draft for consultation, to which we responded, with the final report being issued in August last year. Although it recommended doubling the frequency of the services to Wokingham with 2 trains per hour termed as fasts, they only offered a 4 minute reduction on current times with the same stopping pattern which seemed to confirm the degree of padding in the current timetable. The route study also contained a table of average journey times with Wokingham being rock bottom on 32 mph, the next slowest being Portsmouth with 44 mph, an average speed about which we can only dream.

Following a decision by the Department for Transport not to proceed with a Direct Award Franchise to South West Trains, the Department issued a consultation on a replacement South Western Franchise and all 54 then Councillors were invited to comment and a number did including Prue and the Deputy Mayor. We then submitted an 8 page response to the consultation with our principal target being our 59 minute timing. There are 2 bidders for the new franchise, the incumbent Stagecoach Group and a joint bid led by First Group, the owning company of GWR. Members of both bid teams have visited Shute End for briefings. The Invitation to Tender, which calls for ambitious and innovative bids, was issued in June with bids to be returned in early September with the new franchise due to start on 25th June next year. The bidders have a train service specification to meet and the ITT indicates that we will get major timetable changes in December 2018, when the frequency will be increased to 4 trains per hour with some likely journey time reductions, and again in December 2020 when further reductions should be achieved. Therefore I am hopeful that we will finally get the journey time improvements that we seek.

Supplementary Question

The train from Waterloo seems to slow down some distance from Wokingham and crawls the last mile or so. Any idea why?

Answer

The answer is that Network Rail has imposed a Temporary Speed Restriction of 30 mph from about the Star Lane Level Crossing to Wokingham Junction, a distance of about one

mile. That is bad news in view of our wish to see journey time reductions. A Temporary Speed Restriction is simply one that is not permanent so it could be with us for some time. The reason for the speed restriction is the user worked crossing that gives access to the Knoll Farm, also known as Smith's Farm, which is just inside Julian's Westcott Ward. The farm is on the south side of the railway and the crossing provides the access from Gypsy Lane. While the crossing has presumably existed for over 100 years, the speed restriction was imposed recently following an accident elsewhere at a user worked crossing where a car was hit by a train. The Rail Accident Investigation Branch report made recommendations on sighting distances for such crossings, and the Knoll Farm crossing is on a double track 3rd rail electrified railway on a curve with restricted sighting distances for both car and train drivers. Hence the 30 mph restriction being imposed.

Network Rail is actively seeking a solution for this crossing. I am dealing with Network Rail on this and will have meetings with them in the next few weeks with the aim of getting this restriction removed.

36.2 Alistair Auty asked the Executive Member for Children's Services the following question.

Could the Executive Member please update the Council on the situation with Emmbrook Infant and Junior School?

Answer

The situation has moved from one of change and some uncertainty, with no teaching staff from September, to now one which is looking forward positively. The school has just recruited an experienced teacher of the deaf who has been appointed for this September. Dialogue with parents and professional stakeholders has established a shared understanding and interest in the future of this provision.

Annual reviews for the four pupils due to stay on in the Hearing Impairment Unit provision at Emmbrook led to two of the children then being placed elsewhere, with agreement from their parents, to meet their needs from this September onwards. The new teacher of the deaf will work with the two remaining pupils, plus one new arrival, and another pupil on an outreach basis who will move to his local school.

We will continue to explore options for a closer relationship with the Berkshire Sensory Consortium, so the future of the Emmbrook provision will be looked at in that wider context.

Supplementary Question

Whilst this further work is continuing, does that mean that the paper scheduled to go to the Executive on 28 July will still go forward, or does that now not need to happen?

Answer

No, indeed the paper will not go to the Executive on 28 July. It has been a changeable position, as described in my original answer. Further, very recent discussions with stakeholders, in particular the school and parents has identified potential partnership solutions requiring more exploration and, in particular, more time. Consideration will be given to these and we will explore the operational implications in due course. I would particularly like to thank the parents who have taken part in the consultation so far and would like to put my thanks formally on the record.

36.3 Tim Holton asked the Executive Member for Environment the following question.

Could the Executive Member explain the basis for the Council's current approach to grass-cutting in the Borough?

Answer

A number of things have informed the Council's approach to grass cutting across the borough:

- Firstly, the 2014 grass cutting consultation;
- Wokingham Borough Council's Biodiversity Action Plan;
- Regional and national policies and strategies that we do our best to follow.

The new approach seeks to develop an appropriate cutting regime throughout the area, enabling us to cut some areas like sports pitches, play areas, residential verges, and cemeteries to a higher standard than the past whilst allowing areas of grassland and wild flowers to establish on large verges, parklands and some sections of open space.

To achieve this we have procured an outcome based partnership contract with ISS Facilities Services – Landscaping, thereby moving away from the previous rigid and prescribed contract which allowed grass cutting in all areas to be carried out eight times a year irrespective of whether this was too little or too often. This new and modern outcome based contract will deliver higher standards of biodiversity and horticulture than before, and is complemented by an assured contract term of 10.5 years which enables, and gives confidence, for ISS to invest in Wokingham's green space.

This new partnership with ISS allows a far more flexible service which allows for experimentation with grass cutting, among other grounds maintenance services, which will become fine-tuned each year in consultation with Members, residents and stakeholders. It is because of this new approach that we are now able to be far more outward looking and focused on improving standards.

Supplementary Question

In light of that answer, please can you explain what steps the Council is taking to address the concerns raised by residents that the grass in their area has not been cut to a standard that they would like?

Answer

First of all, I have to say that it has become very evident that residents have very polarised views about how they see their local grass being maintained. We have, in every case, initiated local discussions, often involving yourselves as local Councillors, and the Officers to try to reach a consensus and not bow to the loudest views only. I believe that we have largely reached that position by our Officers' efforts. It is not what any one resident requires but the consensus.

36.4 Kate Haines had asked the Executive Member for Children's Services the following question but due to her inability to attend the meeting the following written answer was provided:

Does the Executive Member agree that the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub will lead to more effective pooling of knowledge between the Council, the NHS, the Police and the Probation Service, in order to ensure the safety of our children?

Answer

The multi-agency safeguarding hub (also known as MASH) was launched in Wokingham Children Services on the 11 April 2016.

It was part of a pan-Berkshire project to establish MASHs across Children's Services and statutory partners (which means Police, Health, Education, Probation and voluntary organisations) involved in the safeguarding of children and the assessment of needs and services.

MASH is a tried and tested process enabling the timely sharing of information. It is a model and design supported by the review of child protection arrangements undertaken by Professor Eileen Munro on behalf of the Department of Education in 2010 and it is a recommended approach by the statutory regulator Ofsted.

The design and implementation of MASH in Wokingham has taken the best aspects and learning from other MASH across the country.

MASH is managed under an information sharing protocol which gives timely and extensive access to information held by statutory partners. It allows for collaborative decision making between agencies with all professionals sharing their understanding of uncertainty and risks.

Feedback from partners and review of the MASH process so far has been positive and the implementation of the model is assessed as effective in identifying and managing risk in a timely manner and directing children to the right help at the right time.

So, in conclusion, I believe that the MASH is enabling effective information sharing which underpins and supports effective decision making for children who need support and/or safeguarding by social workers and other partners.

36.5 Bill Soane asked the Executive Member for Environment the following question:

Could the Executive Member explain the benefit to residents of the introduction of permits to use recycling centres?

Answer

The introduction of permits has been prompted by West Berkshire Council giving notice that it intends to stop paying the re3 Councils for waste delivered to re3 recycling centres by West Berkshire residents. This Council and the other two Councils in the partnership (Reading and West Berkshire) believe it is unfair to ask re3 area council taxpayers to fund waste management services for residents in other local authorities and so a system of permits has been introduced from the 1st July. Every household in the re3 area has been sent a permit which should be displayed in the car windscreen.

Early indications from the team at Smallmead and Longshot Lane indicate that the introduction has gone smoothly with most residents understanding the need for the change. We will continue to reinforce the message of why we needed to restrict access and that permits were able to be produced and distributed in the limited period between when West Berkshire gave notice and when their payment ceased on the 30th June 2016.

Supplementary Question

Is the permit scheme the best long term option for controlling access to our recycling

centres?

Answer

Not necessarily. We obviously had to find a very quick solution to the situation that we find ourselves in. Personally, I would like to see if we can get some sort of smart card scheme with each of the three Boroughs, maybe a different one for each Borough, which would be a multi-use one but would show everybody that needs to see it that you are resident in our Borough and, in the case of the recycling centres, would enable you to access it that way. It is something that the re3 Board and the Officers are working on.

36.6 David Chopping asked the Executive Member for Children's Services the following question:

Can the Executive Member for education please update the residents of the Maiden Erlegh Ward on the second stage of the expansion of our primary schools to meet the ever increasing demand resulting from being one of the best Education authorities in the south of England?

Answer

Two schemes were agreed by Executive on 28 January 2016 to increase primary capacity in Earley. The first, at Loddon Primary School is progressing well and additional places were offered for September 2016, which is very positive. The second, at Aldryngton Primary School is in development. The transport and design consultants are addressing two significant challenges. Firstly, parking for additional staff (six spaces) and credible measures to manage school run traffic are required. Secondly the new school buildings and additional car parking required present a challenge in terms of retaining the necessary amount of formal and informal play space.

At Aldryngton, traffic congestion is a local issue, with two schools on the site and the main access road through a small shopping parade. Transport consultants have completed their initial assessment and are currently working on solutions to the issues that have been identified. This work will feed into the design feasibility work. Once this is complete officers will take stock, determining if not only viable traffic solutions do exist but also if there will be sufficient play areas. In the interests of the local community and future generations of children it is vital that satisfactory proposals emerge before the scheme progresses.

Supplementary Question

I had intended to ask when the plans were likely to be finalised, but in light of the answer I would like to ask: a local school is supposed to service the local community, not the other way round. Bearing in mind that only children living 0.22 miles, that's less than a quarter of a mile, are gaining entrance this year, surely there is no need for major traffic alterations as, apart from the teachers' cars you have mentioned, everyone should be able to walk there?

Answer

In an ideal world, every parent and student in this scenario, particularly at a primary school, would indeed choose to walk. But, as we all know, this does not happen, unfortunately. Indeed, when we surveyed parents, back when we wrote the original primary school strategy, parents said that they all wanted to have a local school and walk or cycle to it. In reality, this is not what happens. A vast majority of our parents choose to get in the car and drive to the local primary school, even if it is just a short walk, even 0.22 miles down the road.

As we know from the Chief Executive of the LEP here this evening, this is a very vibrant area and people will get in their car and do the school run on the way to work. Unfortunately, without changing the habits of every single parent in our community, I do not think that this is going to happen. So, regrettably, unless we reverse this trend on a permanent basis, I do not think that we will see a reduction in parking spaces in the future. If we did I would be enormously grateful and we would have much more money in the Capital pot to do many other projects around the Borough. So, perhaps some local work on persuading parents to start walking a bit more to school?

36.7 Lindsay Ferris asked the Executive Member for Environment the following question:

What is the overall cost to the Council of the decision by West Berkshire Council to cease paying for its residents to use the RE3 recycling centres and the subsequent introduction of a permit system for residents of Wokingham, Bracknell and Reading?

Answer

Had the changes not been introduced, the total loss of income to the re3 councils as a result of the West Berkshire decision would have been £500,000. However, we estimate that the full year ongoing savings to re3 residents are likely to be around £835,000. (We have calculated this from the average cost per visit and estimated actual use by non-re3 residents).

Set up costs of the new system in the first year are estimated at £340,000 shared across the three re3 councils. It is important to note that those costs cover both the issuing of 182,000 permits and letters, staff costs and engineered traffic management changes at the sites. If the scheme is successful the net savings for remaining part of the financial year will be £395,000.

Supplementary Question

I have some specific issues on how we deal with residents. How would we deal with multiple car occupancy, people moving within and around the borough and new people moving into the borough?

Answer

At the moment there have not been any problems that have arisen in that way. Clearly, when people move into the Borough, at the same time as getting all the other things that we give them, this will be notified to them and, again, if people move. As part of multiple use, again it is something that we have to monitor and deal with as and when the problem arises.

36.8 Prue Bray asked the Executive Member for Resident Services the following question:

In an attempt to address its financial challenges, the Council has begun work on remodelling itself. We understand that the business case for the 21st Century Council project will come to the Executive in the autumn. For this remodelling to succeed, there will need to be a shift in the way the Council interacts with the public, so that the public can more easily get their queries answered satisfactorily and the work load on staff is reduced. This presents both threats and opportunities. If this is got right, there is a genuine chance to improve the responsiveness of the Council to its residents. What steps does the administration intend to take to involve the public and others in contributing ideas to the changes to its customer-facing functions so that the outcome is as good as it can be?

Answer

It is true to say that we have an opportunity to transform the way the Council interacts with our residents to make it easier and simpler for residents to find the information they need, access services they require and track progress on issues on the way to being resolved. This will enable people to track progress of their own requests and queries online, to reduce the risk of email requests being missed and save the cost and inconvenience of having to contact the Council to get an update.

As we develop our plans we will, of course, want to capture the views, experiences and ideas of our residents to help us to get the changes right. We will do this through a variety of ways, using existing communication channels such as our website and asking customers who ring us. We will also use our social media presence to engage people. We will hold public events, set out our aspirations and goals and ask our residents to help us achieve them, enabling us to save money and improve the experience people have in dealing with the Council.

The Leader and Chief Executive have already offered to meet every Town and Parish Council to discuss the change programme. Many meetings have already been scheduled and we are talking also to our partners in other agencies about the changes and any ideas they have as to how we should go forward.

Supplementary Question

My concern is at the margins of society with the most vulnerable who are least likely to cope. Can you explain what you are doing to make sure that they can keep access to their services?

Answer

There is no intention of taking access away from people who cannot gain access through electronic means. We know, for instance, in the libraries, that we have people that want to come and visit libraries locally. There is no intention to take the ability to access Council services direct, face to face, away from the public.

What we are trying to do is make the people who can, access services electronically; make it easier for them and make it their preferred method and actually make it more reliable so they move from less efficient and costly methods into using electronic means. So, hopefully, we will manage to square the circle and reduce the amount of people who require expensive services at the same time as protecting those who need more expensive routes.

36.9 Gary Cowan had asked the Executive Member for Highways and Transport the following question but due to time constraints the written answer below was provided:

At the Arborfield Garrison Public Forum held at Henry Street Garden Centre on June the 29th Officers gave a presentation on safe walking routes to Bohunt School which some residents of both Arborfield and Barkham have serious concerns with. As the Executive Member responsible do you approve of the plan as presented and therefore accept responsibility for its implementation and have you seen and approved any risk assessment attached to this plan?

Answer

At Arborfield Garrison Public Forum on 29 June 2016, officers advised of available walking routes from Arborfield Village and Barkham to the proposed Bohunt School. An earlier

inspection of the walking routes identified works required to improve the condition and suitability of the existing routes, and the details of these works were presented at the forum.

Attendees of the forum were also advised that speed limit reviews will also be conducted on the routes. These speed limit reviews will recommend whether a reduction in a speed limit should be considered on parts of the routes. Should a reduction in speed limits be progressed by the Council these would require both the support of Thames Valley Police who would enforce the new speed limit, and the formal change to the Traffic Regulation Order being a formal process where objections may be received by the Council, prior to the reduced speed limit being introduced and signed on site.

Regarding my role and responsibility regarding this project. As Executive Member for Highways, officers are keeping me informed of progress, and involving me in key issues as the project evolves. I am working with officers and their consultants who are appropriately experienced and trained in civil and road safety engineering, therefore capable of assessing and mitigating risks as necessary, and will ensure the school is served by appropriate walking routes to school.

36.10 Clive Jones had asked the Executive Member for Health and Wellbeing the following question but due to time constraints the written answer below was provided:

The Government is conducting a dangerous experiment by cutting funding for pharmacies which will see up to 3000 close, thereby reducing people's access to medicines and healthcare advice, and putting extra pressure on GPs and hospitals.

The proposals put at risk a part of the health system that holds the key to solving many of its problems. Patients would be the biggest losers. There are particular concerns about the risks to the most vulnerable people and the most deprived communities, where local pharmacies are often (literally) a lifeline.

What action will you take to minimise the negative impact on Wokingham Borough residents of this government cut to pharmacy funding?

Answer

The Department of Health (DH) has recently consulted on the future of community pharmacy. The DH believes that there are too many pharmacies and cites clusters of pharmacies on high streets as an example. It is believed they would like to see a reduction of about 3000 pharmacies in England out of a total of 11,674 pharmacies, a 26% reduction. The DH put these proposals out to consultation during spring 2016, ending 24 May. Changes to the funding and number of pharmacies has not therefore been finalised as the DH will seek to review the findings of its consultation.

Healthwatch Wokingham Borough held two consultation events recently to ascertain the views of the public and patients; pharmacies; GPs and other stakeholders. WBC's Public Health team contributed to both, highlighting the crucial role community pharmacies play in delivering public health services such as the NHS Health Check and Stop Smoking services, as well as being a valued partner in supporting patients to manage their health conditions and prevent further demands on health and care services. Healthwatch have sent their reports of the two meetings to the DH as consultation responses.

Wokingham has 23 pharmacies plus 3 dispensing practices – this equates to 17

community pharmacies per 100,000 residents which is below the national average of 20 per 100,000 residents. Public Health provides a Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) for the Health and Wellbeing Board to agree every three years – with the current assessment concluding in April 2018. The current assessment notes the increase in population being driven by new house building in the Borough, and notes that the existing capacity and distribution of pharmacy provision in the Borough is able to meet the needs until 2018. When the next iteration of the PNA is undertaken, this may have changed. A reduction in capacity from the current level of provision may also mean that the capacity and distribution of pharmacies would not meet the population needs.

Ultimately, the DH may publish proposals to reduce funding to (and the numbers of) community pharmacies. These proposals would then need to be tested as part of the next PNA process (which includes wide public consultation) and the recommendations of the PNA would need to be agreed by the Wokingham Borough Health and Wellbeing Board.

37. MINUTES OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND WARD MATTERS

37.1 Lindsay Ferris asked the Executive Member for Resident Services the following question:

It has been brought to my attention that, during the recent Henley Regatta period, a number of taxis from Wokingham and Reading, located at Twyford station, refused to take local Twyford people to their destination, preferring instead to to only take people to Henley. In addition, I have had concerns raised about some of the charges made for such journeys to the Henley area. What can be done to ensure that such actions do not occur again?

Answer

I am not aware of that. If you have a conversation with me or send an email afterwards, I will be happy to look into it with the licensing authorities.

37.2 Gary Cowan asked the Executive Member for Highways and Transport the following question:

At the Arborfield Garrison public forum, held on June 29th, Officers gave a presentation on safe walking routes to Bohunt School. As the Exeutive Member responsible, do you approve of the plan and have you seen and approved any risk assessment attached to this plan?

Answer

At the Arborfield Garrison public forum, on 29th June this year, Officers advised on available walking routes from Arborfield Village and Barkham to the proposed Bohunt School. An earlier inspection of the walking routes identified works required to improve the condition and suitability of the existing routes. Details of those works were presented at the forum.

Attendees at the forum were also advised that speed limit reviews will also be conducted on the routes. These speed limit reviews will recommend that a reduction in the speed limit should be considered on parts of the routes. Should a reduction in speed limits be progressed by the Council these would require both the support of Thames valley Police, who would enforce the new speed limit, and a formal change to the Traffic Regulation Orders, being a formal process where objections may be received by the Council prior to the reduced limit for the site being introduced and signed.

Regarding my role and responsibility regarding the project, as Executive Member for Highways, Officers are keeping me informed on progress and involving me in key issues as the project evolves. I am working with Officers and their consultants who are appropriately experienced and trained in civil and road safety engineering, and are, therefore, capable of assessing and mitigating risk as necessary and will ensure that the school is served by appropriate walking routes.

37.3 Prue Bray asked the Executive Member for Highways and Transport the following question:

At last July's Council meeting I asked a question of the previous Executive Member for Highways about the poor quality resurfacing of the footway along Reading Road in Winnersh, carried out when the cycleway was put in. The answer I got was that there had been a meeting with the construction company and they were going to be asked to come back and re-do the path. A year on, what parts of the footway have been re-done?

Answer

I do not have the answer to that question at the moment. I will have to get back to you.

37.4 Clive Jones asked the Executive Member for Highways and Transport the following question:

Since the new Sainsburys store opened in Maiden Place Shopping Centre the volume of traffic has increased. This leads to problems sometimes for parents crossing the road with their children. A number of residents have asked for a zebra crossing to be installed to help them cross the road safely. Would you support this idea and ensure that a crossing is put in as soon as possible?

Answer

Again, I will make sure that this request is passed on to the appropriate Officers for decision and we will keep you informed.

37.5 Rachelle Shepherd-Dubey asked the Executive Member for Highways and Transport the following question:

Can you guarantee that the temporary opening of the Kings Street Lane intersection of the Winnersh Relief Road will be closed in May 2017 and not reopened again until the Council built part of the relief road is opened?

Answer

I do not have a crystal ball or the answer to that question at the moment, so I will have to get back to you.

37.6 Beth Rowland asked the Executive Member for Environment the following question:

I would like to address Councillor Ross about the Bulmershe consultation and how disappointed I am with it. Lots of my residents do not know about it. When I am talking to them and saying that you can find it on the website, I could not and they cannot, although I do understand from Prue that she came across it today. Perhaps it needs to be signposted in an even better place. I appreciate that you are going to Woodley Precinct for some weekends. However, only a small percentage of residents go into the precinct on a Saturday. You will be catching some but there are a large amount that you will not be catching. I wonder if you are doing anything to get opinions from those people? You said about talking to schools. My school uses it for swimming and, as far as I am aware, you have not been in touch with Southlake.

Answer

I think that there are about eight questions there. The consultation in the Woodley Precinct was remarkably successful with an extensive number of people wanting to come and talk with us, also at the Bulmershe leisure centre the following day. As I said earlier, we are holding another session on Saturday 6 August. The Bulmershe School has definitely been contacted and I will make sure that the others are contacted. Of course, the consultation came towards the end of term when schools were not keen on diverting from the end of term. I will make sure, if necessary, that this will be done at the start of next term. The consultation does continue. It has been on the website. I will follow up and see if it is, in any way, hiding itself. I trust it is not but I will look into that.

38. MOTIONS

38.1 Motion 383 submitted by Lindsay Ferris

The Council considered the following Notice of Motion, submitted by Lindsay Ferris and seconded by Prue Bray:

"Over the past few weeks, Wokingham Borough Councillors have received numerous communications from residents showing how dissatisfied they are with the new grass-cutting contract that came into force in April 2016.

This Council supports the aims of the new contract to provide flexibility and improve biodiversity, but regrets that the implementation of the contract has been far from satisfactory, and that too little guidance was given on what was an appropriate level of grass-cutting in each area. This Council calls on the Executive Member for Environment to provide in writing for publication on the Council website and to issue to the media:

- An apology for the poor implementation of the contract;
- An explanation as to why the contract was allowed to be implemented badly;
- A clear outline of a way forward that will solve the problems."

The following amendment, proposed by Angus Ross and seconded by Parry Batth, was accepted by Lindsay Ferris, the mover of the original motion:

"Over the past few weeks Wokingham Borough councillors have received numerous communications from residents showing how dissatisfied they are with the new grass-cutting contract that came into force in April 2016.

This Council supports the aims of the new contract to provide flexibility and improve biodiversity, but regrets that the implementation of the contract has been far from satisfactory, and that **there were misunderstandings over** what was an appropriate level of grasscutting in each area. This Council calls on the Executive Member for Environment to provide in writing for publication on the Council website and to issue to the media:

- an apology for the *initial* poor implementation of the contract;
- an explanation of the factors which led to the unsatisfactory start of the contract;
- a clear outline of *the actions to date and* a way forward that will solve the problems".

Following debate, upon being put to the meeting, the Motion as previously amended, was

declared by the Mayor to be carried.

RESOLVED: That over the past few weeks Wokingham Borough councillors have received numerous communications from residents showing how dissatisfied they are with the new grass-cutting contract that came into force in April 2016. This Council supports the aims of the new contract to provide flexibility and improve bio-diversity, but regrets that the implementation of the contract has been far from satisfactory, and that there were misunderstandings over what was an appropriate level of grass-cutting in each area. This Council calls on the Executive Member for Environment to provide in writing for publication on the Council website and to issue to the media:

- an apology for the initial poor implementation of the contract;
- an explanation of the factors which led to the unsatisfactory start of the contract;
- a clear outline of the actions to date and a way forward that will solve the problems.

38.2 Motion 384 submitted by Keith Baker

The Council considered the following Notice of Motion, submitted by Keith Baker and seconded by Prue Bray:

"We are proud to live in a diverse and tolerant society. Racism, xenophobia and hate crimes have no place in our country. Our Council condemns racism, xenophobia and hate crimes unequivocally. We will not allow hate to become acceptable.

We will work to ensure that local bodies and programmes have the support and resources they need to fight and prevent racism and xenopohobia.

We reassure all people living in this area that they are valued members of our community."

Following debate, upon being put to the meeting, the Motion was declared by the Mayor to be carried.

RESOLVED: That we are proud to live in a diverse and tolerant society. Racism, xenophobia and hate crimes have no place in our country. Our Council condemns racism, xenophobia and hate crimes unequivocally. We will not allow hate to become acceptable. We will work to ensure that local bodies and programmes have the support and resources they need to fight and prevent racism and xenophobia. We reassure all people living in this area that they are valued members of our community.